IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HAROLD Z. EUBANKS

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-01922

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Judges of the Mississippi Supreme Court and Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Honorable Jim Hood, Mississippi Attorney General
- 2. Hal Kittrell, District Attorney 15th Circuit Court District
- 3. Honorable Prentiss G. Harrell Circuit Judge
- 4. Harold Z. Eubanks, the Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the Circuit Court of Pearl River County Erred in Failing to Utilize Its Inherent Equitable Powers and Adopt Equitable Expungement to Expunge All Public Records Relating to Eubanks' Conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings

This case arises out of Eubanks' efforts to have his 1993 conviction for Felony DUI expunged by the Circuit Court of Pearl River County. More simply, the central issue is whether the Mississippi Supreme Court or Court of Appeals should recognize and find where applicable equitable expungement as adopted by numerous federal and state courts. R. at 60¹. On September 11, 1992 Eubanks was indicted by the Grand Jury of Pearl River County on two counts of Felony DUI. R. at 2. Subsequently, on June 21, 1993, he entered a guilty plea to one count of Felony DUI. R. at 4. Following the completion of a pre-sentence investigation, which included the preparation of Victim Impact Statement, Eubanks was sentenced on August 16, 1993. R. at 32.

Eubanks was sentenced to ten years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections; however, the Court noted his lack of a record and suspended his jail sentence and placed him on supervised probation for a period of five years. R. 33. In addition, Eubanks was ordered to pay approximately 14,000 in total restitution and all costs of court. *Id.* On August 10, 1998, the Mississippi Department of Corrections filed a Termination of Probation Petition on the grounds that Eubanks had paid all fines, restitution and did well on probation, which was granted on the same day. R. at 44 and 45.

Eubanks initial efforts to obtain an Expungement were ultimately denied and or vacated by the Circuit Court of Pearl River County. R. at 46-57. On September 10, 2009, Eubanks filed a Renewed Motion to Expunge based on new grounds not previously

¹ For ease of reading the multiple zeros utilized in the bates numbering system have been removed, for example 00002 is cited simply as R at 2.

raised. R. at 60. The trial court while sympathetic denied the requested relief. R. at 86.

However, the Circuit Judge did make the following important findings:

This court finds that the precedent set forth in *Turner v. State*, 816 So. 2d 1056 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) that circuit judges are without inherent power to expunge should be revisted....Moreover, the case fails to address a court's inherent equitable power to expunge criminal records.

R. at 85.

Furthermore the Circuit Judge held concerning a criminal record:

"It is a reality in today's job market that a criminal background check has become a prerequisite to obtaining even low-skilled employment.""

R. at 86.

The trial court entered a final order denying the Renewed Motion to Expunge on

November 19, 2009. R. at 87. Aggrieved by the decision, Mr. Eubanks timely appealed

the denial of his Renewed Motion to Expunge. R. at 88.

2. Statement of Facts

1 1

Mr. Eubanks was an eighteen year old student in the midst of his freshman year at Jones County Junior College when the tragedy leading to his arrest and conviction occurred. R. at 61. Prior to his arrest and indictment he had no criminal history of any kind. R. at 61. He later plead guilty to one count of Felony DUI, and was sentenced shortly thereafter following a preparation of a pre-sentence report. R. 39. Of particular importance, the pre-sentence report contained a Victim Impact Statement, which stated that the families of the victims did not oppose Eubanks receiving probation. R. at 31. After considering the pre-sentence report, he was sentenced to ten years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections, but the court suspended the imposition of the sentence and placed him on five years supervised probation. R. at 33. Likewise, at sentencing Judge Eubanks placed an emphasis on Eubanks furthering his education. R. at 40.

Since successful completion of the terms of his probation and discharge, Eubanks has amassed a host of impressive accomplishments. See generally, 75-81. Most notably, heeding the Court's direction he obtained an Engineering Degree from the University of South Alabama, graduating with high honors. R. at 75. Moreover, he utilized his drafting and design skills to successfully register a patent with U.S. Patent Office. R. at 76. Likewise, Eubanks' renewed motion was replete with numerous letters of recommendation commending his work habits as well as bearing witness to his remorseful nature. In particular, a letter from Cathy Norris detailed Eubanks remorseful nature, admirable work ethic, as well as her opinion that he has been fully rehabilitated

and worthy of a clean slate. R. at 73. Furthermore, via exhibit 6^2 to his renewed motion, Eubanks in his own words expresses his sincere remorse for his actions. R. at 82. Indeed he states that he recounts daily those tragic events and that they weigh heavily on his mind and that he has never forgiven himself. *Id*.

Despite his accomplishments the public record of his conviction is restricting him from achieving his full professional potential and completely engage in civil society some eighteen years after his conviction. R. 62. In particular, the record of his conviction bars him from sitting for the Alabama Professional Engineers Exam. *Id.* Consequently, his inability to sit for the examination prevents him from obtaining full employment as a Professional Engineer. *Id.* Along with diminished job opportunities Eubank's record prevents him from voting, possessing a firearm, and fully reintegrating into society. *Id.*

 $^{^{2}}$ Said exhibit was inadvertently not numbered, but given the numbering sequence it should have been labeled as number six. The exhibit is a sworn statement by Eubanks.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

From the outset, the Petitioner recognizes that there presently exists no statutory basis for the requested relief; however, Eubanks urges this Court to utilize its inherent equitable powers and adopt "equitable expungement" as advocated by a number of courts. While the Mississippi Supreme Court failed to recognize equitable expungement in *Turner v. State*, the issue is ripe for reexamination due to the ever-increasing societal costs associated with offenders being unable to fully reintegrate into society.

Given the extremely narrow scope of Mississippi's expungement statute found at Miss. Code Ann. § 99-15-26, this Court should adopt the "balancing of the equities test" utilized by a majority of federal courts, as well as numerous state courts in granting expungements. More simply, if the adverse consequences to the individual outweigh the public interest in maintaining the record then expunction is appropriate.

Here considering Eubanks' pre and post-sentence record as well as other attendant circumstances applying the balancing of the equities test clearly favors him. The record reflects that that he is being denied full employment, and is unable to realize the fruits of his lengthy education pursuits in being barred from sitting for the Alabama Professional Engineers Exam. Likewise, since the termination of this probation, Eubanks has led and exemplary and trouble free life. Furthermore, given that the five-year look back window for DUI enhancement has long since lapsed it is difficult to envision what useful purpose maintaining a public record of his conviction serves.

Lastly, a tragic one-time lapse in judgment by the eighteen-year old Eubanks should not permanently label him with a "Scarlet Letter" long after the completion of his

1.0

sentence. Accordingly equitable expungement should be adopted as it is needed to mitigate the lingering effects of unfortunate guilt.³

1.7

l

ŧ

ſ

³ The phrase "unfortunate guilt" was coined by Alexander Hamilton in Federalist Paper 74.

ARGUMENT

1. Whether the Circuit Court of Pearl River County Erred in Failing to Utilize Its Inherent Equitable Powers and Adopt Equitable Expungement to Expunge All Public Records Relating to Eubanks' Conviction.

Standard of Review:

: :

It is well established that the standard of review is *de novo* in analyzing questions of law. *See, Mauney v. State*, 707 So.2d 1093, 1095 (Miss. 1998) (an expugement case citing *Seymour v. Brunswick*, 655 So.2d 892, 895 (Miss. 1995)).

At present a majority of federal courts utilize their inherent equitable powers to grant expungements on a case by case basis. *See generally, United States. v. Doe*, 935 F.Supp. 478, 480 (S.D.N.Y. 1996); *See also, United States v. Van Wagner*, 746 F.Supp. 619, 621 (E.D. Va. 1990). Further, the judicial remedy of expungement is inherent and not dependent on express statutory authority. See, *United States v. Rosen*, 343 F.Supp. 804, 807 (S.D.N.Y. 1972).

In determining whether expungement is proper federal courts have adopted a balancing of the equities test. *See, Diamond v. United States*, 649 F.2d 496, 499 (7th Cir. 1981). Specifically, expungement is appropriate where, "the dangers of unwarranted adverse consequences to the individual outweigh the public interest in maintenance of the records." See, *Van Wagner* at 621 citing *Diamond*.

For example in *Unites State v. Doe*, the Court applying the balancing test found that expunging the defendant's conviction for three counts of making false claims and one count of mail fraud appropriate. *Id.* at 479. The court in doing so noted that defendant's conviction occurred twenty years ago, his conviction had an actual impact on

his employment status, and he was convicted under the Youth Corrections Act. *Id.* at 480, 481.

In addition to the host of federal courts a number of state courts have applied similar balancing tests in utilizing their inherent equitable powers to expunge. Unlike federal courts, which have not underlying statutory authority for expunging records some states allow for equitable expungement despite specific limiting statutory authority. *See, generally, State v. Schultz*, 676 N.W.2d 337, 340 (Minn. Ct. App. 2004) (two legal basis provide for expungement: statutory and court's inherent power). Similar to the balancing of equities test the Court in *Schultz*, held that expungement is proper when "it will yield a benefit to the petitioner commensurate with the disadvantages to the public from the elimination of the record and the burden on the court in issuing, enforcing and monitoring an expungement order. *Id.* at 341.

Likewise, the Supreme Court of Kentucky in *dicta* recently opined that upon a showing of extraordinary circumstances expungement might be proper in spite of the limited scope of Kentucky's Expungement statute. *See, Gibson v. Commonwealth,* 291 S.W.3d 686 (Ky. 2009). In particular one justice advocated in favor of adopting the balancing test when it comes to expungement as set forth in *Diamond v. U.S.,* 649 F.2d 496 (7th Cir. 1981).

As stated previously the Mississippi Supreme Court's decision in *Turner v. State*, should be revisited in light of the wealth of case law emanating from both federal and state jurisdictions utilizing equitable expungement. Although ultimately denying Eubanks renewed Motion to Expunge for lack of authority the trial judge endorsed

1.

reexamination of the *Turner* decision on equitable grounds. R. at 85. In the present case, adoption of the balancing of the equities test would clearly favor Eubanks.

First, Eubanks conviction occurred over sixteen years ago when he was a college freshman and save for this tragedy he has led an exemplary life. Since that time he has not had any incidents with the law, successfully completed probation, remained gainfully employed and obtained an engineering degree. Indeed, his post-sentence behavior coupled with his genuine remorse makes him worthy of expungement.

Second, Eubanks has shown that he is being denied full employment and is unable to sit for the Alabama Professional Engineers Exam, despite graduating with honors. R. at 64. As in *Poe*, Eubanks has demonstrated that his sixteen-year old conviction has had an actual impact on his employment status. *See, Poe*, 935 F.Supp. 481. In addition, the public record of his conviction prevents him from fully reintegrating into society by denying him the right to vote, participate in civic affairs, and own a firearm. R. at 82. Consequently, the failure to afford expungement in this case and others can be counterproductive and even impede a person's willingness and desire to reform and avail themselves of rehabilitative opportunities. *See generally*, Fruquan Mouzon, *Forgive Us Our Trespasses: The Need for Federal Expungement Legislation*, The University of Memphis Law Review Volume 39.

Third, given the five-year look back window for DUI enhancement pursuant to Miss Code Ann. §63-11-30 has long since expired, it is difficult to see what useful law enforcement purpose would be served in maintaining a public record of his conviction.

1.1

Lastly, a one-time lapse in judgment should not create a permanent under-class of citizens still punished long after they have served whatever punishment meted out by the

Court. Thus, equitable expungement is needed to realize his full rehabilitation and remove the lifelong handicap imposed by maintaining a record of his conviction.

÷

.

.

1.

ì.

ŧ.

i.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the Judgment of the Circuit Court of Pearl River County should be reversed and this Court should recognize and adopt equitable expungement as utilized by numerous state and federal courts.

÷.

ι.

Ł

÷