#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HAROLD Z. EUBANKS

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-CA-1922

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS 3
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 4
ARGUMENT 5
THE CIRCUIT COURT DOES NO HAVE THE
AUTHORITY TO EXPUNGE A CONVICTION
OF AN IMPLIED CONSENT LAW VIOLATION 5
CONCLUSION 8
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## STATE CASES

Caldwell v. State, 564 So.2d 1371 (Miss. 1990)
Turner v. State, 856 So.2d 1056 (Miss. App. 2004)
STATE STATUTES
Miss. Code Ann. § 9-23-23 5
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-15-26
STATE REGULATIONS
Alabama Administrative Code 330-X-301(9)

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HAROLD Z. EUBANKS

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-CA-1922

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The grand jury of Pearl River County indicted Harold Eubanks for Felony DUI two counts, one resulting in the death of Shirley Jo Burge and the other involving injuries to C.J. Sanders. (Indictment c.p. 2-3). In 1993 defendant entered into a plea agreement defendant and pled guilty to one count of felony DUI and was sentenced to 10 years suspended with five years of probation. (C.p. 32-37). In 1998 Eubanks had successfully completed his sentence and was discharged. (C.p. 45).

A Motion to Expunge was filed in May of 2009, which was granted by the trial court. (C.p. 49-51). Within 2 weeks the Mississippi Department of Public Safety filed a motion to vacate the order of expungement, which was vacated in June of 2009.

(Order vacating expungement, c.p. 56-57).

A couple of months later in September of 2009 Eubanks filed a 'Renewed Motion to Expunge' based not on statutory law but principles of 'equitable expungement'. (C.p. 60). The motion was denied, and became final on or about the 20<sup>th</sup> of November, 2009. (C.p. 84-87).

A notice of appeal from that final order was timely noticed. (C.p. 88).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Harold Z. Eubanks and a friend were drinking, they got in a vehicle with defendant driving and he dozed off rear-ended a vehicle on Interstate 59 in Pearl River County. As a result of defendants impaired condition (blood alcohol over .01) and negligent driving one person was killed (Shirley Jo Burge) and another seriously injured (C. J. Sanders). A petition to plead guilty was filed and defendant admitted in open court that he was, in fact, guilty.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

# THE CIRCUIT COURT DOES NO HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO EXPUNGE A CONVICTION OF AN IMPLIED CONSENT LAW VIOLATION.

The Mississippi legislature has made it clear that charges and conviction for violation of our state implied consent law or driving under the influence are not to be expunged. Further, circuit courts do not have the statutory power to expunge driving under the influence convictions, nor is there any recognized 'inherent' authority or equitable expungement that would allow same.

While petitioner may not seek remedy from the courts of Mississippi he is not without remedy in seeking relief to ameliorate his situation.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

# THE CIRCUIT COURT DOES NO HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO EXPUNGE A CONVICTION OF AN IMPLIED CONSENT LAW VIOLATION.

Counsel for petitioner seeks to invoke *Miss. Code Ann.* § 99-15-26 and a revising of the holding in *Turner v. State*, 856 So.2d 1056 (Miss. App. 2004). Quite succinctly that statute has nothing to do with this case and was never applicable to this case.

Further, *Turner* was decided by the Court of Appeals of the State of Mississippi. The controlling case if it were even applicable (which it is not) would be *Caldwell v. State*, 564 So.2d 1371 (Miss. 1990). There is no mention in either case of 'equitable expungement' as an alternative to our statutory scheme.

Further, it is clear the legislature has enacted laws allowing criminal records to be expunged in limited circumstances. However, the Mississippi Legislature is consistent in that "... no expunction of an implied consent violation shall be allowed." *Miss. Code Ann.* § 9-23-23.

Further as noted in *Turner* and *Caldwell* any pretrial diversion or sentence amelioration is not even an option as:

A person shall not be eligible to qualify for release in accordance with this section if such person has been charged . . . with an offense under the Mississippi Implied Consent Law.

Miss. Code Ann. § 99-15-26

There is simply no authority, whatsoever, for the circuit court to expunge any record either after conviction or in a pre-trial diversion program involving any violation of the implied consent law.

Now within the brief of petitioner on appeal there is mention of Alexander Hamilton coining the phrase 'unfortunate guilt' and that such is applicable to the facts of this case. It should be made clear that the guilt in question is not, to repeat, is not unfortunate guilt. To imply that the consequences of his 'guilt' were unfortunate belies the serious nature of the crime to which he pled guilty. To imply that it was unfortunate that an intelligent young man got drunk (in violation of law), then chose to drive while impaired (in violation of the law) and pled guilty to a crime resulting in the death of one individual, injury to another is not 'unfortunate' — it was and is criminal.

What petitioner seeks is to now garner relief because of the unfortunate circumstances that conviction has beset upon his life.

While the reference to 'unfortunate guilt' from the *Federalist Papers* is inapposite to the issue here, the actual theme of the cited piece *The Command of the Military and Naval Forces, and the Pardoning Power of the Executive, No. 74* might offer the proper remedy. The piece discussed the power to pardon granted to the

President. While the power of the President to pardon power does not extend to state convictions, the Governor of Mississippi does have extensive powers to pardon.

Additionally, and while not even claiming any expertise or knowledge in Alabama law, it would appear there are exceptions allowing a convicted felon to take the professional exam upon restoration of 'civil rights' – however that be interpreted under Alabama administrative law. Alabama Administrative Code 330-X-3-.01(9). It should also be noted it would appear he would be unable sit for the professional exam even with some misdemeanor convictions, so he is not being singled out because of his conviction.

Petitioner also aims he is unable to vote, however, it would appear that the crime for which he stands convicted, is not a disenfranchising crime under Mississippi law. See, Mississippi Attorney Generals Opinion to The Honorable Wallace Heggie, 2009 WL 2517257 (July 9, 2009).

So, in conclusion, the Circuit Court Judge was correct in his denial of the motion to expunge and no relief should be granted on this claim of trial court error.

### **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the trial court denial of motion to expunge criminal conviction.